
WORK SESSION OF APRIL 6, 2010              
 
Mayor Tedeschi called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
 
PRESENT:  Mayor Tedeschi, Deputy Mayors Swain and Weinstein, Councilmembers 
Baratta and Trawinski. 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Acting Manager Kwasniewski, Assistant Municipal Clerk Bojanowski 
and Attorney Rosenberg 
 
CLOSED SESSION RESOLUTION:  
 
Upon motion by Councilmember Trawinski and a second by Councilmember Baratta,  
the following closed session resolution was unanimously adopted at              p.m. 
 
 WHEREAS; the Open Public Meeting act of the State of New Jersey permits the 
public to be excluded from certain matters to be discussed by the Governing Body; and 
 
 WHEREAS; the Mayor and Council of the Borough of Fair Lawn desire to 
discuss Personnel – Manager Interviews; Attorney/Client Privilege – Personnel strategy; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS; these matters are ones which permit the exclusion of the public from 
such discussions; and 
 
 WHEREAS; minutes will be taken during this closed session and once the need 
the confidentiality no longer exists the minutes will be available to the public. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the 
Borough of Fair Lawn that the public be excluded since these matters as set forth above 
are ones which permit the exclusion of the public from such discussions.  
 
Budget Meeting: 
 
CFO Palermo was present. 
 
Tax Collector – Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that the Tax Collector was a small 
department.  It was cut back to 2009 levels. 
 
Mayor Tedeschi asked if there were any complaints about late water bills.  He received 
his February bill on March 22nd and had to pay a late charge.  Acting Manager 
Kwasniewski stated that he should have sent a note asking them to waive the penalty.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski stated that the printer price of $1,125 seemed high.  Tax 
Collector Lee stated that the new Edmund’s system they were using for water bills 
required a special card and special paper.  This was the recommended printer. 
 
She stated that the Tax Sale Law had changed.   Anything under $100, usually on a 
utility bill, could be held instead of being sold.  Out of 150 delinquent water bills for 
2009, approximately 50 were under $100. She asked them to consider not selling the 



Page 2                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
accounts under $100, since it is not worth selling smaller accounts because of the cost 
of advertising.  Tax Collector Lee stated that next year these accounts would owe more 
than $100 and would then be sold.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski agreed this was a 
cost effective approach.  They are looking into being able to pay Water bills online.  
Councilmember Trawinski thought Tax Collector Lee should still prepare a resolution so 
there are no questions later on. 
 
Engineering – Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that some cutbacks were made to 
the Engineering Department.  CFO Palermo stated they will have to increase the 
account by $500, however, because a contractual service lease was overlooked.  Mayor 
Tedeschi asked if $500 could be transferred from Professional Services.  Engineering 
Garrison stated that it could.  The Professional Services account was there for surveys  
as deemed necessary by the Council.  The lease on the Engineering copier has expired 
and the buyout was $3,400.  Engineer Garrison felt that buying the machine would buy 
them another year or two.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski asked why they had budgeted $2,100 for overtime, when 
only $283.61 was used in 2009.  CFO Palermo stated that she looked back in 2009 and 
noted wages for a part time intern that was not being reinstated.   She was concerned to 
cut the Budget too short with Gary Hickey retiring.   Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated 
that is one of the positions not being replaced.  Engineer Garrison said they were 
already down two employees.  The Department was becoming him with one assistant.  
Councilmember Trawinski noted that construction projects were down as were 
municipal projects.   
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated she included only the ongoing major projects in the 
Capital Budget.  Councilmember Trawinski asked how many miles of roadway could be 
paved for $400,000.  Engineer Garrison stated that five years ago they could do a mile 
for $80,000.   Now, the cost is closer to $160,000 - $170,000 a mile.  The price has 
more than doubled because of petroleum costs.  Mayor Tedeschi stated that in 1990 the 
then-Council declared that no roads needed to be paved and even removed 
maintenance costs.  Engineer Garrison stated between 1994 and 1996 they were doing 
seven miles of road to try to catch up.  He is afraid they are going to fall behind again.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski asked if they could receive a road replacement chart.  
Engineer Garrison stated that he does a complete survey of the town every three years, 
The most recent survey was done last year.  He takes the top 50 rated streets, reviews 
them and cycles them out.  If a road has just been paved it is not reviewed again for ten 
years.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski stated that when they hired Capital Alternatives, questions 
were raised as to whether or not they were maximizing the discretionary DOT grants.    
He suggested Acting Manager Kwasniewski find out what efforts were being made on 
the grant applications, capital improvements and sanitary and storm drain 
improvements.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that she spoke to Marlene Casey 
last week.  There is no money.  She wanted to set up a meeting with her and the BIC, 
but Ms. Casey said there was no sense in wasting anyone’s time.  Councilmember 
Trawinski felt she should remain in constant contact with Marlene.  Under the Damn 
Safety Act they were told there was no money, but two weeks ago the Assembly passed 



Page 3                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
the bill appropriating the necessary funds for this year’s projects.  Last week the Senate 
passed the bill and it is now sitting on the Governor’s desk.  He felt they will see some 
of the funds return once the Government realizes roads aren’t going to be repaved.  
Engineer Garrison stated they increased their initial application and put in another 
$250,000 - $300,000 for Discretionary Funds, but nothing came of that.   
 
Engineer Garrison stated that any project under the DOT uses a product called “Super 
Pave”, which was used to pave a section of Plaza Road and Morlot Avenue. This is one 
of the first tests of this product in the County.  The project cost approximately 5% more, 
but time will tell if the paving lasts any longer.  
 
Deputy Mayor Weinstein wondered if there might have been changes in the formula 
used for Community Development requests for Fair Lawn with regards to roads.   
Engineer Garrison stated they would see changes in 2012 after the Census was 
completed.  Deputy Mayor Weinstein asked what Public Service’s paving requirements 
were when they dug up a road for a project.  He spoke with someone recently who was 
able to work out an arrangement whereby Public Service paved half the street; from the 
midpoint to the curb.  Deputy Mayor Weinstein wondered if they could work with Public 
Service to get some mileage out of them.  Engineer Garrison said there were occasions 
when Public Service worked with them.   
 
Deputy Mayor Weinstein asked Engineer Garrison if he has looked into grant money for 
changing the surfaces at crosswalks.  Engineer Garrison stated that a surface implanter 
design for Abbot Road and Fair Lawn Avenue was sent to the County.  The County 
Engineers, Gary Ascolese and Joe Femia agreed, as did the State DOT.  He is sending 
the final plans to the State, as Fair Lawn Avenue is going out to bid for resurfacing this 
spring and will be paved in the fall.  They are responsible for the administration of the 
contract for the ADA ramps along Saddle River Road, but the cost will be reimbursed 
through a DOT grant.  They are taking down the delineators and replacing them with 
concrete planters.  The State and the County agreed this was a worthwhile project.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski stated there seemed to be inconsistencies concerning the 
Sewer Improvements.  They were told the pumps were functioning fine, but the project 
description includes pump replacements at various sewerage stations. Engineer 
Garrison stated this matter was usually handled by Superintendent Conte, who was out 
on medical leave during the last round of storms.  They did not do replacements at the 
pump station on Prospect Street as intended, because the last rounds of storm placed 
duress on the Saddle River Road and Radburn Station Pumps and the funds were used 
there instead.  When the pumps are pulled they must also deal with the rails and the 
whole mechanical system.   The $75,000 he budgeted only covers two pumps.  
Councilmember Trawinski noted the cost would be $775,000 over five years. Engineer 
Garrison stated that this would be an ongoing project.  He offered to bring the Council to 
the south siphon so they could see it.  
 
Mayor Tedeschi stated that the pumps were replaced during the last storm under 
adverse conditions, by employees who went above and beyond.  Engineer Garrison 
stated that the Road Department drove them through the storm in their bucket loader to 
the south siphon.  Councilmember Trawinski asked Acting Manager Kwasniewski if any 
of the pump replacements qualified for FEMA funding.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski 



Page 4                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
confirmed she was submitting everything to FEMA.  Engineer Garrison stated he was 
working with OEM Coordinator Marks and Wendy Demeraski.  They will have to replace 
100 feet of sidewalk around the pool and some possible curbing, which will be 
evaluated once the river drops.  This will be included in the FEMA request along with 
sand testing.    Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated they were reimbursed 90% after the 
last flood.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski inquired about the “Rehabilitation and Reconstruction of 
Sanitary Sewer Facilities and Upgrades to Pumping Stations” project.  He verified that 
this was not a new project but rather the ongoing maintenance of the system.  Acting 
Manager Kwasniewski stated this was a generic project.  Engineer Garrison stated they 
have two or three separate yearly contracts with pumping equipment contractors, who 
services are utilized when they have heavy storms and flooding.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski asked for reassurance that the water tower would not be 
drained and they would not need to do 18,000 spot welds like what occurred in 1996.  
Engineer Garrison stated that this project was in the six year Capital Improvement plan 
for 2012.  He inspected the tower five years ago and it was projected to last another five 
years.    
 
Councilmember Trawinski asked CFO Palermo if there were any open Bond Issues in 
Engineering that could be used to cover some of the items.  CFO Palermo stated there 
were not.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that the year before last Engineer 
Garrison had not put in any requests.  CFO Palermo stated that she tried to fund 
whatever she could.  Councilmember Trawinski stated that he was referring back to 
1999 - 2001.  Engineer Garrison reiterated there were none.  He was trying to carry 
over some of the funding for the Roads Improvement Project because he was hoping to 
receive some of the funding for Roadway Easements from the County.   
 
Water Utility – Mayor Tedeschi asked if the Budget would increase and come up short 
again if United Water received their requested rate increase.  Engineer Garrison stated 
United Water has a proposed increase before the BPU of 25 – 28%.  They will probably 
be approved for a 16% increase.  CFO Palermo confirmed Mayor Tedeschi’s inquiry.   
 
Engineer Garrison stated that he will email the requested survey to the Council.   
 
DPW: Buildings and Grounds – Superintendent Conte thanked everyone for the fruit 
basket and well wishes.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that the Budget had been 
cut back to just under 2009’s figures.  Superintendent Conte stated that some funds 
were moved to Recreation for supplies, which might account for the difference.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski reference wording of a line item on the budget.  Acting 
Manager Kwasniewski stated that there were limitations to their system that does not 
allow certain expansions that CFO Palermo would prefer.  Although expensive, they will 
have to look into changing the system at some point in the future as it may be difficult to 
get replacement parts.  It will also make things easier to present to the Council and 
Department Heads.   
 



Page 5                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
Shade Tree - Councilmember Baratta noted that overtime was decreased in Shade 
Tree. She asked if the pear trees they planted had all died and were removed.  
Superintendent Conte stated that when they have a storm and find a tree with a split in 
the trunk it is removed. 
 
Councilmember Trawinski inquired why contractual services were up over 2009 figures.  
Superintendent Conte stated those services were for pruning and removal of trees.  
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated they received some funding from FEMA.   Mayor 
Tedeschi wondered if they could reduce the line item by $5,000.  Superintendent Conte 
stated they could reduce the line item but they will lose that amount of trees.  Manager 
Kwasniewski stated they spent $71,000 this year.   
 
Electrical – Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated this was a department of one person, 
as someone retired and was not replaced.  Councilmember Trawinski stated that if they 
were to replace the position they would need to find $54,000.   
 
Superintendent Conte suggested removing the $2,300 allocated for traffic lights, as 
Ridgewood Traffic Safety had fixed the light at River Road and Morlot Avenue and 
repaired the box.  The traffic lights on Lincoln Avenue and Maple Avenue were going to 
be taken over by the County.   The $2,300 will be removed.   
 
Administration – Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that one clerical worker was not 
replaced.   
 
Mayor Tedeschi stated that the salaries were listed as decreasing from $188,000 to 
$120,000, yet the savings were actually greater since the cost of health care and 
pension were not added in.  CFO Palermo stated pension was a bill.  It was not going to 
change regardless of who retired since it is funded the year after.  Mayor Tedeschi 
stated that eventually it would catch up as would health care.  CFO Palermo noted that 
the retired employee was eligible for health care. 
 
Maintenance Garage - Mayor Tedeschi inquired as to the entire cost of the Maintenance 
Garage.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski did not know as benefits would have to be 
added in.  The department was at $442,000 without benefits.  CFO Palermo will obtain 
this information.  Councilmember Baratta inquired if they were unique compared to 
other municipalities for having such an extensive garage.  She felt they should look into 
shared services with other small municipalities.  Superintendent Conte stated they were 
not unique in the fact that they have a maintenance garage; it was the size that was 
unique.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that last year they paid $108,000 for work 
that was sent out.  She felt this would be a good area for shared services.  
Superintendent Conte stated that he would reach out to Glen Rock, Hawthorne, 
Elmwood Park and Saddle Brook.   
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that the overtime costs for repairing the light bars, 
which were done after hours, was very high.  If the repairs cannot be done during 
regular working hours it was no longer cost effective.  She will monitor the costs.  
Superintendent Conte stated that a great deal of money was spent on tires, including 
$30,000 for garbage truck tires.  Police car tires have increased from $85 to $190.  The 
SUV tires have increased from $85 to $145.  A new transmission for a recycling tuck 



Page 6                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
costs $27,000.  Mayor Tedeschi stated maintenance and tires are the hidden costs.  
Superintendent Conte stated they have also started contractual work regarding diesel 
conversions that are required for 2010.    
 
Councilmember Baratta asked how many employees were in this department.  
Superintendent Conte stated that there were three, as one employee passed away last 
year.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated they will be looking at how they do recycling, 
and looking into outsourcing, as some of the maintenance costs are in addition to the $2 
million they spent in the Recycling Division.  There is a move to go back to combined 
recycling.   
 
The Maintenance Garage is expensive, although it has value.  Superintendent Conte 
reminded them that the Garage handles everything in town including ambulances and 
fire trucks.  Some of the fire truck repairs required certified work that is contracted out.  
The mini buses are in on a regular basis.  Deputy Mayor Swain wondered if they were 
getting the best price on the tires.  Superintendent Conte stated that they deal with a 
company in Newark, which has better prices than the State contract.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski wondered if the required changes to the diesel engines 
belonged on their list of unfunded State Mandates.  Superintendent Conte stated that 
the Federal Government came out with a diesel emission low several years ago and 
everything has to be incompliance by 2010.  This also applied to school buses and older 
trucks.  Councilmember Trawinski suggested CFO Palermo and Superintendent Conte 
review this to see if it belonged on the State Mandate list.   
 
Roads – Councilmember Baratta stated there was no line item request for street signs.  
Superintendent Conte stated that they make their signs.  He has been using the 
$30,000 that remained from old ordinances.  Councilmember Baratta wondered if this 
was an area that could be offered through shared services.  Superintendent Conte 
stated they would have to charge the towns unless they provided their own supplies.  A 
“No Parking” sign cost $39.00 and a “Stop” sign was $50.00.  They would pay a higher 
price unless they ordered a box of 500 signs and overlays for $200 - $300, which might 
end up sitting on the shelf for a year or longer; it was not worth doing.  Acting Manager 
Kwasniewski stated that she would see if there was any interest at the Central Bergen 
Co-Op, which included neighboring towns.  The signs may end up being too expensive 
once they add in the labor cost.  Deputy Mayor Swain inquired about solar powered 
stop signs.  Superintendent Conte thought they could probably make the sign, but it 
might be cheaper to purchase.  He was concerned about a vehicle hitting the sign or 
knocking it down.   
 
Mayor Tedeschi inquired as to how many dead end streets there were in town.  
Superintendent Conte thought there were 62.  Mayor Tedeschi suggested changing the 
signs to read “No Outlet”.  Superintendent Conte stated that a “No Outlet” sign was 
placed at the corner of Hazel Place and Morlot, and the residents’ reaction has been 
positive.  They are considering placing these signs in Radburn.   
 
Recycling – Councilmember Trawinski recused himself. 
 



Page 7                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
Councilmember Baratta noticed a significant decrease in salary.  Acting Manager 
Kwasniewski stated that they did not replace an employee who resigned.  CFO Palermo 
stated that she also reallocated more funds to the Dedicated by Rider.  Mayor Tedeschi 
confirmed that the entire cost for Recycling was $2 million per year.  Acting Manager 
Kwasniewski stated that when pensions, benefits and equipment were added it was a 
lot of money.  Mayor Tedeschi inquired if the maintenance expense for the recycling 
vehicles made its way to the Maintenance Garage.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski 
confirmed that.  Mayor Tedeschi stated they were not picking up the expense of the 
vehicles within the department.  He wondered if there was a way to measure that.  
Superintendent Conte could not give exact figures.  He noted that a filter for the 
Recycling truck cost $52.00 and was replaced every six months.   
 
Mayor Tedeschi questioned an expense amount of $1,800, yet in 2007, 2008 and 2009 
the Department never spent more than $1,300.  Superintendent Conte stated that he 
had asked Acting Manager Kwasniewski about sending an employee to Recycling 
Coordinator School but they decided against it.   
 
Sewers – Councilmember Trawinski resumed participation in the meeting. 
 
Mayor Tedeschi stated that the amount budgeted for Contractual Services was $2,500 
in 2009 and $10,000 in 2010.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that was for repairs. 
 
Water Generating – There were no questions or comments. 
 
Water Distribution – There were no questions or comments. 
 
Capital Budget: 
 
DPW Administration – Superintendent Conte stated that he was looking at a Chevy 
Colorado for $16,058, so they would have a vehicle with a pick up body if someone 
needed it.  Deputy Mayor Swain thought a hybrid car would be perfect for around town 
use.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that a hybrid cost $31,000.  It won’t pay for 
itself.  CFO Palermo stated the maintenance costs are higher and service can be an 
issue.   
 
Sewer – Acting Manager Kwasniewski included two replacement vehicles because they 
were needed for snowplowing.  Superintendent Conte stated that one truck had 160,000 
miles and was in poor shape.  The trucks are used constantly.   
 
Shade Tree – Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated there is request for a stump cutter, 
which is expensive.  Mayor Tedeschi wondered if the work could be contracted out.  
Superintendent Conte stated that they remove 250 trees per year.  Mayor Tedeschi 
stated they did a cost analysis a few years ago on contracting out the work.  Acting 
Manager Kwasniewski stated that will be done again.   
 
Councilmember Baratta asked if there were funds left for tree replacement.  
Superintendent Conte stated there was.  No residents requesting a tree will be turned 
away.  Mayor Tedeschi suggested that Superintendent Conte obtain estimates on tree 
stump removal.   



Page 8                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
Recreation: 
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that decisions needed to be made regarding 
upcoming events, as information needed to be placed in the newspapers.   
 
Parks and Playgrounds – Councilmember Trawinski questioned the difference between 
“Contractual Services” and “Special”.  Superintendent Graff explained that Port-o-Johns 
were being placed in all ballparks from April through November, for a cost of $5,600.  
Mandatory State lab tests on the pool have been completed and leftover funds will be 
used to fix the beach tractor.  Councilmember Trawinski suggested they add the pool 
testing to the list of State mandates.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski stated that the Garden Committee spent $1,043.91 last year.  
He suggested reducing that line item by $400.   
 
Councilmember Baratta felt that as Council liaison, she needed to speak on behalf of 
the Committee.  It was nice to see the complimentary letters about their gardens and 
work throughout the town.  The Committee, however, was upset that hundreds of 
dollars worth of shrubs were removed without notice to install the clock at the Library.  
The shrubs died.  Deputy Mayor Weinstein felt the Committee had opportunities to do 
fundraising, such as selling plants at the Farmers’ Market.  Councilmember Baratta 
stated that she would support a reduction, but stressed the need to advocate for the 
Committee.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski suggested reducing the budget to $1,100; Mayor Tedeschi 
suggested $1,250.  Councilmember Trawinski felt it was only fair to ask the Garden 
Committee to give concessions, since the same was being asked of the employees. 
Mayor Tedeschi stated that he was also going to propose small reductions for the 
Senior Center, the Football Association, All Sports, the Art Council and Hockey.  If they 
are discussing furloughs and trying to save jobs, the cuts have to be spread across the 
board.  Councilmember Trawinski noted that the senior citizens will be upset when the 
mini bus is cut.  Deputy Mayor Weinstein felt they should reach out to Saddle Brook, as 
he heard they were looking for a mini bus and driver.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski 
thought that it was a good idea.  Councilmember Baratta reminded them that the 
Garden Committee was also putting money into the Community Garden and paid for the 
soil testing. 
 
It was the Council’s consensus to reduce the Garden Committee’s budget to $1,250.  
 
Superintendent Graff stated that Walsh Pool salaries totaled $23,500, including 
maintenance.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that the net savings of closing the 
pool would be $40,000.  Mayor Tedeschi stated there were no water costs since they 
used their own well and the water went back into the pool.  It is not potable.  Assistant 
Superintendent Homa stated that $15,000 in salaries would be transferred to Memorial 
as some of the lifeguards would be used to monitor the camps. Deputy Mayor Weinstein 
questioned if the savings warranted closing Walsh Pool.  Mayor Tedeschi stated there 
would only be a savings of $10,000.   
 



Page 9                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that once the camp leaves, very few people use 
the pool; it is empty on the weekends.  Councilmember Trawinski stated that they 
learned there is adequate capacity when the Paramus residents used the pool.  Acting 
Manager Kwasniewski inquired if the other towns that used Walsh Pool would be 
allowed to use Memorial Pool.  Councilmember Trawinski felt they should continue the 
practice as it would increase revenue.  Attorney Rosenberg suggested that Acting 
Manager Kwasniewski’s analysis include a reduction in insurance premiums.   
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that the newsletter was going out next week.  They 
needed to make a decision as she wanted to include information on the pool.  
Councilmember Trawinski felt they should wait one more week for the final analysis. 
 
Copying Costs – Mayor Tedeschi stated that last year’s amount was $4,000, but they 
only spent $869.  Mayor Tedeschi suggested they reduce the account by $500.  
Councilmember Baratta suggested they reduce the account to $3,000.  Superintendent 
Graff was unsure.   Acting Manager Kwasniewski felt that the $869. was for paper only. 
Councilmember Trawinski suggested CFO Palermo get back to them with the actual 
costs.   
 
Office Equipment Maintenance – Councilmember Trawinski stated that $2,500 was 
budgeted but only $833 was spent; the year before they spent $1,100.  Superintendent 
Graff stated that money was added to this account because they were using for the 
computers in the Community Center.  They were trying to take some things away from 
the 501(c)3.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that the maintenance contracts for the 
computer have now expired.   
 
Mayor Tedeschi inquired if anyone has looked into a barcode system instead of a card 
system.  Superintendent Graff stated that was in the system.  They want to activate it 
and start using it.  Assistant Scott Homo stated that members come in, show their card 
and sign in.  Using a barcode would increase maintenance.  They simply present an ID 
card at the entrance.  Mayor Tedeschi stated that every system that moves people or 
products uses a bar code, because it more accurate.  It tells you when someone enters 
the building and when someone leaves.  Assistant Superintendent Homa said the 
member does the work; they sign their name, their sign their time.   
 
Deputy Mayor Swain stated that they use a barcode system at the Ridgewood Y and it 
works well.  She felt the members should start using a barcode system, because if they 
needed information they could access it, especially since they have the capabilities.  It 
could also be tied to a security system .  Councilmember Baratta also felt it was a good 
idea.  It would also give them an idea as to usage of the computer rooms, exercise 
equipment, etc.   
 
Deputy Mayor Weinstein asked if they currently have the ability to know when everyone 
has left the building.  His main concern was safety.  He felt using a bar code system 
would make that job easier.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski agreed that it would simplify 
the process of obtaining information about usage and justify monetary requests for 
programs, equipment, etc.   
 



Page 10                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
It was the consensus of the Council that an estimate be obtained for setting up a 
barcode check in system at the Community Center.   
 
Line item 17 - Departmental Supplies – Councilmember Trawinski suggested reducing 
the amount $3,000 to $17,500 as $16,500 was spent last year.     
 
Line 61 – Mayor Tedeschi suggested the following reductions:  Senior Clubs - $13,000 
to $12,000; the Senior Center - $10,000 to $9,000; Fair Lawn Football Association - 
$5,600 to $5,100; All Sports - $16,700 to $$15,700; the Art Council - $9,000 to $8,000; 
and the Fair Lawn Hockey Association - $15,000 to $14,000.  He inquired about the Art 
Council.  Superintendent Graff explained that the account was used for summer 
concerts in the park.  Councilmember Trawinski stated that the attendance at the 
concerts were low. Councilmember Baratta felt it depended on the show as some 
concerts were packed.  Superintendent Graff stated they currently had $2,500 in 
donations.  He felt it was feasible to reduce the account by $1,000.   
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski questioned the reduction to Fair Lawn All Sports, as the 
Council had agreed to pay for background checks.  Mayor Tedeschi stated that was a 
separate issue.  Deputy Mayor Weinstein felt it was expensive for a family with several 
children to join All Sports or Fair Lawn Football.  These accounts may be subsidizing 
some families.  Councilmember Trawinski felt that all not-for-profit organizations should 
submit a financial statement.  He wanted to be sure these organizations weren’t asking 
for funds when they had accumulated large surpluses.  Deputy Mayor Weinstein stated 
that the funds given to All Sports benefited taxpayers.  He noted they were informed 
that All Sports had a $70,000 surplus when they came about background checks.  He 
felt it was not necessary to request an audit when they could go online and view their 
990 Form.   
 
Mayor Tedeschi stated that it cost $150 to enroll a child in the Football Association; it is 
a pay for fee service.  Deputy Mayor Weinstein stated that the fee included the shirt, 
equipment, referees and umpires.  Their decision should not be based on how well the 
organization was run.  They give funds to the Hockey Association because it helps kids 
play ice hockey at rinks that are costly.  Deputy Mayor Swain agreed, but wanted to see 
an accounting of how the money was spent.  Councilmember Baratta agreed that the 
sports organizations benefit the children.  They look at every miniscule amount in 
Borough departments, so they should also look at all sports.  When they came for help 
with the background checks, she asked if grant money was available.  All Sports 
indicated they were receiving 100% reimbursement.  Deputy Mayor Weinstein clarified 
that All Sports was trying for a full grant.  It they received the grant they would not ask 
the Borough for funds.  Councilmember Baratta stated that she wanted to review the 
minutes from that meeting, because she did not believe Deputy Mayor Weinstein’s 
recollection was correct.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski agreed it was important to support the sports programs.  
However, it was the Council’s obligation to justify how they spend the public’s money.  
They should have this financial information, since they ask the CFO Palermo for 
information to justify the budgets submitted by the Department Heads.  He doesn’t need 
this to justify cutting $1,000; he needs it to justify spending $75,000 of taxpayer money.   
 



Page 11                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
Mayor Tedeschi wondered what they would tell the residents if they needed to eliminate 
one mini bus.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that they would have to be told that 
not enough people rode the bus to warrant the expense of two buses.  Councilmember 
Trawinski pointed out that there was a one year period where only one bus was running.   
Acting Manager Kwasniewski felt this was one item that would have a minimum impact, 
versus closing the Library Saturday or Sunday.   
 
It was the consensus of the Council that the reductions outlined by Mayor Tedeschi be 
accepted, with Deputy Mayor Weinstein dissenting.   
 
It was the consensus of the Council that not-for-profit organizations submit an annual 
statement, with Deputy Mayor Weinstein dissenting.   
 
Fireworks – Deputy Mayor Weinstein did not have time to work on this project yet due to 
tax season.  Superintendent Graff stated that the company they used for the last 12 
years was no longer in business.  He was being contacted by several new companies. 
Deputy Mayor Weinstein will report back to them by the end of April.   
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated the Memorial Day Parade was still on, so they 
could begin reaching out to the bands and organizations.  The pool will open on June 
22nd and close on Labor Day, September 6th.  If school starts before Labor Day, the pool 
will be kept open only on that weekend, as many of the lifeguards are students.   
She asked if fees will remain the same.  Mayor Tedeschi was concerned about 
subsidizing the pool after losing $27,000 last year.  He wished he had known that they 
were using one million gallons of water a day, also.  Councilmember Baratta thought 
they should have raised the rates several years ago.  She was concerned about raising 
them now.  Councilmember Trawinski felt they should do a modest rate increase.   
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that a Fee Ordinance was on the tentative agenda 
next week.  Mayor Tedeschi inquired if a fee had been scheduled for the Recycling Bins 
as they were given out for free.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that Recycling 
Coordinator Lottermann explained that was not the case.  Councilmember Trawinski 
suggested they add this to the “Bridge” list.  Residents should be able to use their own 
container.  They may even want to eliminate the sticker.  He hoped that analysis of 
these long term items would take place by September. Acting Manager Kwasniewski 
assured him that discussion would start earlier.   
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski asked what they considered a modest fee increase for the 
pool.  Councilmember Trawinski suggested a 1.5% - 2.5% increase.  Deputy Mayor 
Swain suggested $5.00 an individual and $10.00 a family and no proposed change for 
children and seniors.  Mayor Tedeschi suggested they run the proposed change against 
last year’s attendance to see what the increase would yield.  Acting Manager 
Kwasniewski asked if there would be a change in camp fees, which operates at a loss.  
Superintendent Graff confirmed there were less children in camp last year.  Acting 
Manager Kwasniewski suggested they hold off introducing the Fee ordinance until all 
the fees were included. It did not make sense to do two ordinances.  Superintendent 
Graff suggested increasing fees for “guests”, particularly out-of-towners, as they often 
don’t follow the rules.   
 



Page 12                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
Councilmember Baratta suggested reducing the donation to Garretson Forge to $3,000 
since they did not spend the entire $4,000.  Mayor Tedeschi suggested reducing each 
line item on Page 44 by $500.  Councilmember Trawinski stated that they should also 
be required to submit financial information.   
 
It was the consensus of Council that each account be reduced by $500, with Deputy 
Mayor Weinstein dissenting.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski asked if any of the State mandates regarding pools were 
reflected.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that they spent $1,200 in mandated DEP 
applications for both pools, pesticide application fees, training (every other year) and 
pool water tests.   
 
Capital Budget: 
 
Community Center – There were no suggestions or comments. 
 
Recreation (Parks) – Acting Manager Kwasniewski recommended purchasing the mini 
loader with the plow and the forklift.  Superintendent Graff stated that he would forgo 
this request if it meant saving a job.  Mayor Tedeschi felt Superintendent Graff’s 
comments should be noted until the end of the budget process and considered if 
necessary.  Superintendent Graff noted that the Recreational Facilities Committee was 
concerned about the safety of the playgrounds’ surfaces.  The rubber mulch is very 
important and is replaced annually at a cost of $8,000.  Councilmember Baratta stated 
that it was important to spend the money for mulch to prevent injuries.  Superintendent 
Graff felt, however, that they could forgo replacement this year.   
 
Councilmember Trawinski inquired if any of these improvements were eligible for 
County Open Space Trust Fund grants, with 50% matching funds from the Borough.  
Deputy Mayor Weinstein stated that they received a grant for clay several years ago.  
The application deadline was July 31st.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski will pursue this.   
 
Review of Tentative Agenda – 4/13/10:  
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that she will remove the Fee Schedule Ordinance. 
She received the signed agreement from New Song Church regarding the Farmers’ 
Market.  She will add the execution of the contract to the agenda.   
 
Mayor Tedeschi stated that he and Assistant Support Specialist Van Kruiningen walked 
through the parking lot at Chase Bank and counted 31 parking spaces, despite what the 
graphs said.   
 
Status of Employee Agreements for Senior Management: 
 
The Council will review the packets at home. 
 
 
 
 



Page 13                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
Status of RFP – Insurance Broker and Risk Management Services: 
 
It was the Council consensus to proceed with the RFP for Insurance Broker and Risk 
Management Services. 
    
Westmoreland Wellfield Site: 
 
Attorney Rosenberg stated that he used Pompton Lakes’ website and link regarding 
DuPont information as his model.  He modified their form and letter for the Borough 
website, which will give information on the Westmoreland Well field site.  Residents can 
click on the link and see the EPA’s letter, which offers testing to residents whose homes 
are located in the proximity of the well field.  He added a notation that the documents 
were provided as information only, as a public service to interested residents.  Mayor 
Tedeschi asked Acting Manager Kwasniewski to forward the information to Health 
Officer Wagner so that it could be discussed at the Environmental Commission meeting 
tomorrow night.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski will make sure the website gets posted.   
    
EDC: 
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski circulated a proposal that she and Mayor Tedeschi 
received at the RRIC meeting.  Deputy Mayor Swain suggested they correct the 
Timetable for Delivery of Services, which stated that “work would commence within 
thirty days (45 days)”.  She questioned wording in the next paragraph that stated 
“should lack of cooperation or participation cause a delay”.  Mayor Tedeschi explained 
that the agreement called for River Road to do certain things that were necessary to get  
the study done.   
 
Deputy Mayor Swain questioned why their Consumer Survey was being distributed in 
English only.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that she raised that question 
inasmuch as there is a large Russian speaking population.  In addition to extra cost, it 
was their feeling that the survey would be completed by younger professionals who 
could speak English and not the seniors who might not speak English.   
 
Deputy Mayor Weinstein stated that the EDC was contributing $1,500 towards the 
survey and had requested $3,000 from the Borough.  The BIC was contributing $7,500 
and the RRIC was paying the balance.   Deputy Mayor Swain thought this was an 
important study and would be helpful to the community.  Mayor Tedeschi did not 
support $3,000 but he would support $1,000.  He felt the study was geared 99% to 
River Road.  Any benefits to other areas of town were coincidental.     
 
It was the consensus of Council that $3,000 be given to the EDC for the River Road 
survey, with Mayor Tedeschi dissenting and Councilmember Baratta abstaining.   
    
7-25 Westmoreland Avenue Request for Encroachment License for Basketball 
Hoop 
 
Mayor Tedeschi stated that the resident lived at the dead end of Westmoreland Avenue 
in a low traffic area.  Attorney Rosenberg stated that they could treat it as an 
encroachment area and grant a license that rests with that property owner.  Acting 



Page 14                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
Manager Kwasniewski stated that the hoop makes it difficult for the snow plows to clear 
the roads. Mayor Tedeschi stated that the resident was approached by Property 
Maintenance Officer Cumming, who advised the resident that he just happened to be in 
the area and saw the hoop. The neighbors did not call and complain. Councilmember 
Trawinski suggested they prepare to grant the license, but wait and see what the 
neighbors have to say.  Mayor Tedeschi suggested they put in a clause that the 
Borough will not be responsible if the hoop is knocked down by a snow plow.  Deputy 
Mayor Weinstein suggested that Acting Manager Kwasniewski call the resident and see 
if he wanted the neighbors contacted about the basketball hoop.   
    
Opposition to Repealing Bergen County Blue Laws: 
 
Councilmember Trawinski felt this was political grandstanding by Senator Sarlo, chair of 
Senate Appropriations, who has the ability to stop this action now by stating that it 
would never be placed on his agenda.  He felt Senator Sarlo wanted to keep this alive 
for the November Elections. 
 
It was the Council’s consensus that a Resolution opposing the repeal of Bergen County 
Blue laws be sent to the Governor, New Jersey legislators and Senator Sarlo, Chairman 
of the Senate Appropriations.   
 
Support of Millionaires’ Fair Tax Litigation: 
 
Councilmember Trawinski felt it was unfair to further penalize the 475 residents in 
Bergen County who already pay the highest tax rates.  He stated that 275 millionaires 
left New Jersey last year because of this tax, taking 121,000 jobs with them.  They 
would be taxing the people who create jobs and businesses in New Jersey.  A Rutgers 
study showed that New Jersey lost $75 billion in revenue when businesses moved to 
states such as Nevada, North Carolina, South Carolina and Delaware.  Deputy Mayor 
Weinstein stated that transportation was cut for those who are less wealthy and cannot 
afford to move; in fairness, the tax should remain in place.   
 
It was the consensus of Council that a resolution in support of the Millionaires’ Fair Tax 
Litigation be sent to the Governor and New Jersey legislators, with Councilmembers 
Baratta and Trawinski dissenting.   
    
Opposing State Budget Cuts to School Districts in Bergen County: 
 
Deputy Mayor Weinstein stated that all the State budget cuts to schools accomplished 
was shift the burden from the State to the municipality.  Councilmember Trawinski felt it 
was wrong to focus on teachers instead of administrators and the union.  He did not 
oppose State budget cuts trimming administrative and other costs.  If the resolution 
could be split into two parts, he would oppose the budget cuts that impact on the 
teachers and support those cuts that trimmed the waste of the school boards that did 
not do their jobs.  He felt the Department of Education should develop a comprehensive 
solution similar to the Kentucky Education Reform Act of 1991.   
 
Deputy Mayor Weinstein felt they should add the request that a comprehensive plan be 
put in place.  Councilmember Trawinski stated that if the Governor asked everyone to 



Page 15                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
pay their fare share, it would make sense.  To single out teachers is wrong. He 
reiterated his request that the resolution be done in several parts:  a. Opposing budget 
cuts regarding the teachers.  b. Supporting budget cuts that focused on non-essential 
professionals such as excess administrators.  c. Determining a comprehensive plan.   
 
It was the consensus of Council that Attorney Rosenberg prepares a resolution 
opposing State Budget Cuts to Schools in Bergen County including the three 
components as discussed.  
 
Paperless Meetings: 
 
Deputy Mayor Swain stated that the Borough Council in Franklin Lakes used laptops at 
their meetings.  She felt this was a great way to save paper.  Councilmember Trawinski 
agreed, but noted there was an initial capital cost for the laptops and scanner.  Deputy 
Mayor Swain asked about using personal laptops and thumb drives.  Acting Manager 
Kwasniewski did not think that was a good idea.  Deputy Mayor Weinstein questioned 
the amount of time involved in scanning the documents.    He was also concerned about 
security.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that the initial set up would cost between 
$20,000 and $40,000. Mayor Tedeschi noted that 10,000 sheets of paper currently cost 
$25.00.  Councilmember Trawinski suggested the Municipal Clerk email the agendas 
and copy the supporting documents.   
 
Deputy Mayor Weinstein expressed concern about the Municipal Clerk or Attorney 
emailing confidential documents.  He did not want these items on his personal 
computer.  He reminded the Council of the resident who put in a request to see former 
Mayor Ganz’s emails.  Councilmember Trawinski stated that he always copied the 
Municipal Clerk on emails so that she could retain the copies.  In a worst case scenario, 
a Judge could review emails and make a decision as to whether or not the person was 
entitled to a specific document.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski confirmed that the 
Councils’ emails were retained in Outlook folders in the Municipal Clerk’s office.   
 
United Water Rate Increase: 
 
Councilmember Trawinski suggested the Council register opposition to the Board of 
Public Utilities (BPU) with regards to the proposed 25% increase.  Everyone else in 
Government was being asked to hold at a 4% cap.  The BPU should take a firm stand. 
 
It was the consensus of the Council that the BPU be informed of their opposition to the 
proposed United Water rate increase.   
    
Budget Dates: 
 
Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that the various department budgets will be 
finished next Tuesday.  The Budget should have been introduced, but CFO Palermo 
sent an email requesting an extension.  Councilmember Trawinski asked for a realistic 
date of introduction.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski thought by early May. It was decided 
that the meeting of April 21st would begin at 7:00 p.m. and be devoted only to Budget 
and personnel matters.   
    



Page 16                                               Work Session                                     April 6, 2010 
 
Miscellaneous Public Comments: 
 
Craig Miller, 5 Ramapo Terrace stated that Chief Rose indicated that $10.00 of the 
$60.00 fee charged to Public Service for Police service went to cover Borough costs.  
He wondered if that amount covered the wear and tear of the Police vehicles.  Acting 
Manager Kwasniewski stated there was no wear and tear of the vehicles.  Mr. Miller 
stated that the engine and lights were running.   
 
He partially agreed with the bar coding system.  He felt that some children and adults 
would leave without checking out.  He felt they should have an alternate plan in place in 
cash the computers were not working.   
 
He felt that the Blue Laws should be repealed in Bergen County to allow residents to 
shop locally.   
 
He agreed that the school budget cuts should focus more on administrators’ salaries.  
He felt the Fair Lawn Superintendent of Schools should take a pay cut.   
 
Mayor Tedeschi stated that they did not take action on removing the Police cars from 
the Budget.  Acting Manager Kwasniewski stated that she had that item listed on the 
“Comeback List”.   
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Upon motion by Councilmember Baratta and a second by Councilmember Trawinski            
the meeting was adjourned at 12:14 a.m. 
 
      Respectfully submitted, 
             
                                                                     
      Marilyn B. Bojanowski, RMC    
                          Assistant Municipal Clerk 
                 
 

 
The undersigned have read and approve the foregoing minutes.  

 
 

___________________           
Mayor Joseph Tedeschi 

 
 
                                                        _____________________                                            
Deputy Mayor Lisa Swain                                   Deputy Mayor Weinstein 
 
 
                                                            ______________________                                          
Councilmember Jeanne Baratta                         Councilmember Ed Trawinski 
 


